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FIFTH O RCU T
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(Summary Cal endar)

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
ver sus
CLYDE HAWKI NS,
Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
For the Western District of Texas
EP 92 CR 60 B

June 2, 1993
Bef ore GARWOOD, JONES, and EMLIO M GARZA, G rcuit Judges.
PER CURI AM *

Cl yde Hawki ns was convicted, pursuant to his guilty plea, of
one count of being a felon in possession of a firearm in
violation of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 922(g)(1) (1988). Hawkins was sentenced
to 40 nonths inprisonnment. He appeals his sentence, contending

that the district court erred in applying 8 2K2.1(c)(2) of the

Local Rule 47.5.1 provides: "The publication of
opi ni ons that have no precedential value and nerely decide
particul ar cases on the basis of well-settled principles of |aw
i nposes needl ess expense on the public and burdens on the | egal
profession.” Pursuant to that Rule, the Court has determ ned
that this opinion should not be published.



sentencing guidelines and failing to conply with Fed. R Cim P.
32(c)(3)(d). Finding no error, we affirm
I

Hawki ns was indicted on four counts of being a felon in
possession of a firearm He agreed to enter a guilty plea to
count one of the indictnent in exchange for the governnent's
di sm ssal of the remaining counts. The district court accepted
Hawkins's guilty plea, and thereafter ordered a probation officer
to prepare a Presentence Report ("PSR').

In cal cul ati ng Hawki ns's base offense | evel, the probation
officer began at U.S.S.G 8§ 2K2.1(a)(2), which nmandates a base
of fense | evel of 12 for defendants convicted for being a felon in
possession of a firearm?! This section states that "[i]f the
def endant used or possessed the firearmin connection with [the]
comm ssion or attenpted conm ssion of another offense, apply
§ 2X1.1 [directing courts to calculate the base offense | evel
"fromthe guideline for the object offense”] . . . in respect to
that other offense, if the resulting offense level is greater
than that determ ned above." U S S. G § 2K2.1(c)(2) (cross-

referencing to § 2X1.1). Based upon Hawkins's use of the firearm

. United States Sentencing Conm ssion, Cuidelines Manual,
8§ 2K2.1(a)(2) (Nov. 1989). The probation officer apparently
applied the guidelines in effect at the tine of the offense,
rather than at the tinme of sentencing, due to an ex post facto
problem See U S. S .G 8§ 2K2.1(a)(6) (Nov. 1991) (specifying that
t he base offense level is 14, rather than 12, for a defendant
convicted of being a felon in possession of a firearn).
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to "pistol-whip" his common-law wife,? the court applied the

gui deline for aggravated assault, see U S . S. G § 2A2.2, and

cal cul at ed Hawki ns's base offense level to be 15. The probation
of ficer increased the base offense | evel for aggravated assault
by four levels for the use of a dangerous weapon, see U S S G

8§ 2A2.2(b)(2)(B), and by another two levels for bodily injury to
Hawki ns's conmmon-law wife. See U S. S.G 8§ 2A2.2(b)(3). These
cal cul ations produced a final offense |evel of 21, which together
wth a crimnal history score of 1, yielded a sentencing range of
37 to 46 nonths inprisonnent.

Hawkins filed objections to the PSR, contending, inter alia,
that he never assaulted his common-law wife with a gun, and
therefore, his offense |evel calculations should not be cross-
referenced to the guideline dealing with aggravated assault.
Hawki ns al so objected to the probation officer's finding that his
comon-|l aw wi fe sustained bodily injury in the all eged assault,
which forned the basis for a two-1evel upward adjustnent. After
hearing testinony, the district court overruled these objections
and adopted the factual findings contained in the PSR  Hawkins
was subsequently sentenced to 40 nonths of inprisonnent, foll owed
by 3 years of supervised rel ease, and assessed a $1000. 00 fi ne.
Hawkins filed a tinely notice of appeal.

I
A

2 Hawki ns chal | enges this factual finding on appeal. See
Brief for Hawkins at 8-12.
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Hawkins first argues that the district court clearly erred
in finding that he had assaulted his common-law wife with a
firearm a finding which fornmed the basis for the court's
application of U S.S.G 8§ 2K2.1(c)(2) to upwardly adjust his base
of fense level. See Brief for Hawkins at 8-12. "Wile we review
the application of the guidelines fully for errors of law, we
accept the fact findings of the district court absent clear
error." United States v. Qtero, 868 F.2d 1412, 1414 (5th Cr
1989) .

In addition to the information contained in the PSR 3 the
district court heard testinony from Agent Victor Ml donado of the
Bureau of Al cohol, Tobacco, and Firearns ("ATF'). See Record on
Appeal, vol. 3, at 15-55. Agent Ml donado testified that while
interview ng Hawki ns in October 1991, Hawki ns confessed to having
struck his common-law wife with a gun approximately a year and a
half earlier. See id. at 19. Agent Ml donado further testified
that Hawkins's statenent was reduced to witing, and signed by
Hawkins. See id. at 18-20. This statenent was tendered to the
court as Governnent's Exhibit No. 1. See id. at 19. Hawkins
testified that he hit his common-law wi fe, but that he did so
with his hand and that it was his ring, not a gun, that caused

her head to start bleeding. See id. at 35-37. Based upon Agent

3 "A defendant who objects to the use of information [in
a PSR] bears the burden of proving that it is " mterially
untrue, inaccurate[,] or unreliable."" US. v. Kinder, 946 F.2d
362, 366 (5th Cr. 1991) (quoting United States v. Angul o, 827
F.2d 202, 205 (5th Cr. 1991)), cert. denied, ___ US _ , 112
S.Ct. 2290, 119 L. Ed. 2d 214 (1992).
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Mal donado' s sworn testinony, Hawkins's witten confession,* and
Hawki ns' s adm ssion at the sentencing hearing that he did hit his
comon-|law wi fe (al beit wthout a gun), we cannot concl ude that
the district court clearly erred in finding that Hawki ns struck
his common-law wife with a gun

Hawki ns mai ntains that the governnent's proffered evidence
was insufficient to support the district court's factual finding,
because a state grand jury, when considering assault charges
agai nst Hawkins, failed to return an indictnent. See Brief for
Hawki ns at 10-11. W cannot find any authority for the
proposition that a state grand jury's decision not to return an
i ndi ctment binds federal courts in making sentencing
determ nations. Therefore, even if we were to assune that the
assault charges were "thrown out" for |ack of evidence, we find

Hawki ns's argunent without nerit.®

4 Al t hough arguably hearsay, Hawkins's witten statenent
was neverthel ess adm ssible at the sentencing hearing because it
had "sufficient indicia of reliability to support its probable
accuracy." United States v. Cuellar-Flores, 891 F.2d 92, 93 (5th
Cr. 1989).

5 Hawki ns further argues that he was prosecuted in bad
faith because the governnment msled him"to believe that his
gui del i ne sentence would be a fraction of what the Governnent
woul d seek." See Brief for Hawkins at 11. Hawkins has alleged
no specific facts concerning this charge, other than his
all egation that the governnent provided himw th an erroneous
estimate of his sentence under the guidelines. This information
was contained in the letter to Hawkins's counsel transmtting the
pl ea agreenent. See Record on Appeal, vol. 1, at 24. The
agreenent itself stated that since Hawkins's sentence has not yet
been determ ned, any predictions as to his sentence were not
prom ses of that sentence, and would not be binding. See id. at
36. It appears fromthe record that the PSR reveal ed rel evant
conduct which was unknown to the prosecutor at the tinme he
prepared the transmttal letter. W therefore find Hawkins's
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B

Hawki ns next argues that the district court failed to conply
wth Fed. R CGim P. 32(c)(3)(d), by not specifically ruling on
his objection to the PSR s finding that his common-|law w fe had
suffered a bodily injury as the result of the assault. See Brief
for Hawkins at 12-14. W review this issue of |aw de novo. See
United States v. Stouffer, 986 F.2d 916, 926-27 (5th Gr. 1993);
United States v. Hurtado, 846 F.2d 995, 998 (5th Cr.), cert.
denied, 488 U S. 863, 109 S. C. 163, 102 L. Ed. 2d 133 (1988).

Rule 32(c)(3)(D) requires courts to "resolve specifically
di sputed issues of fact if it intends to use those facts as a
basis for its sentence.”" United States v. Rodriguez, 897 F.2d
1324, 1327 (5th Gr.), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 857, 111 S. C.
158, 112 L. Ed. 2d 124 (1990); see Fed. R Cim P. 32(c)(3)(D).
Here, the district court specifically overrul ed Hawkins's
objections to the PSR, nunbered 4 and 20, pertaining to the
probation officer's finding that Hawki ns had struck his conmon-
law wife with a gun, cutting her at the tenple. See Record on
Appeal, vol. 3, at 57 ("I wll adopt as proper the presentence
report guidelines, and | will also accept as true the facts as
set out by [the probation officer]. The objections 1 through 16,

[and] 20, . . . will be disallowed."). The court's actions
addressed the factual controversy raised by Hawki ns, and di sposed
of it. See United States v. Puma, 937 F.2d 151, 155 (5th Cr

1991) (holding that trial court's express rejection of

claimof prosecutorial bad faith without nerit.
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defendant's challenge to PSR satisfied Rule 32(c)(3)(D)), cert.
denied, __ US __ , 112 S. Ct. 1165, 117 L. Ed. 2d 412 (1992).
Consequently, we hold that the district court conplied with Fed.
R Cim P. 32(c)(3)(D.

11

For the foregoing reasons, we AFFIRM



